1949

# M. A. Shaw, Frank Armstrong, et al v. Salt Lake County : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The plaintiffs in this action are all owners or residents of homes situate in a certain area of Salt Lake County which the plaintiffs designated the "Cottonwood District." (Tr. 1.) The plaintiffs assigned certain arbitrary bounds to that district so referred to as follows:

"From Holladay on the north to and including the homes on the south side of 6200 South on the south, and from Wasatch Boulevard on the east, to and including the homes on the west side of Highland Drive on the west." (Tr. 1-2).

At the time of the filing of the complaint, plaintiffs obtained a temporary restraining order, restraining the defendants from operating a gravel pit which was located within that described district. (Tr. 13-16).

Salt Lake County had theretofore entered into a certain agreement of lease with one Edwin B. Harper and his wife, whereby the County obtained a leasehold interest in a tract of ground for the purpose of mining and processing gravel for the use of the County upon the public roads in Salt Lake County maintained by the County. (Tr. 1-2). Prior to the issuance of the temporary restraining order, Salt Lake County had placed machinery and equipment upon the premises and had commenced operations for the extracting of gravel for public road purposes. (Tr. 2). The County had further planned to use a certain hot asphalt plant to further prepare road material for use upon the public roads and had purchased said plant. (Tr. 241).

The defendants filed a demurred to plaintiffs' complaint, which was both general and special in form, and noticed the said demurrer for hearing at the time defendants were ordered to appear in connection with the temporary restraining order. (Tr. 12). Upon the hearing of the order to show cause, the defendants duly moved the court for an order to vacate the temporary restraining order, which was theretofore issued ex parte. (Tr. 12).

The court overruled the demurrer (Tr. 30) and denied the motion to vacate the temporary restraining order. (Tr. 24). The cause was thereupon duly tried and the court found that the proposed operations by the county would constitute a nuisance (Tr. 46-49) and made permanent its restraining order (Tr. 50-51).

## STATEMENT OF ERRORS

1. That the court erred in overruling the defendants' demurrer.
2. That the court erred in denying defendants motion to vacate the temporary restraining order.
3. That the court erred in finding that the operation of defendants' proposed plant would be a nuisance.
4. That the court erred in permanently enjoining the defendants from the operations referred to.

## STATEMENT OF PARTICULAR QUESTIONS INVOLVED FOR DETERMINATION

I. Whether an action of the kind brought by the plaintiffs in this case may be maintained against Salt Lake County or the named defendants as commissioners of Salt Lake County for the creation or maintenance by the defendants of an alleged nuisance. Involved in this general question are three particular questions:

- a. Whether Salt Lake County enjoys a sovereign immunity as a political subdivision of the State of Utah which precludes the maintenance against it of this kind of action.

b. Whether, assuming that such sovereign immunity exists, there is any provision in the statutes of the State of Utah which in any way modifies or effects that sovereign immunity so as to authorize this kind of action to be maintained against the defendants.

c. Whether, assuming that such sovereign immunity exists, it is in any way affected by the fact that the action is equitable in form and asks an injunction against an alleged nuisance.

II. Whether, under the evidence before the court in this action, a nuisance as an inevitable result is established.

III. Whether, even assuming such nuisance to be the result of the defendants' activities, all of such activities should be permanently enjoined under the facts and circumstances of this case.

## ARGUMENT

I. Whether an action of the kind brought by the plaintiffs in this case may be maintained against Salt Lake County or the named defendants as commissioners of Salt Lake County for the creation or maintenance by the defendants of an alleged nuisance.

(a) These questions were the basis of the defendants' general demurrer, which demurrer was overruled by the trial court herein. Considering those questions in order, the first proposition is that the sovereign is immune against any suit that has not been authorized

by that sovereign. We contend that that rule is too well settled to be seriously questioned. The issue is whether the county partakes of the sovereign immunity of the state, or whether the county is a separate entity which does not enjoy that immunity. The constitution of the State of Utah recognizes the several counties as "legal subdivisions of this State," (Constitution of Utah, Article II, Section 1). The nature of the county in Utah was further explained in the case of Emery County vs. Burren, 14 Utah 328. At page 330 of the Utah Report, the court states:

"A county is one of the political divisions of the state signifying the community clothed with such extensive authority and political power as may be deemed necessary by the superior controlling power of the state for the proper government of its people residing within its borders and for a proper administration of its local affairs."

There are many other cases in surrounding jurisdictions holding that the county is an arm or auxiliary of the state. In the case of Roosevelt County vs. State Board of Equalization, a case decided by the Montana Supreme Court, and found reported in 162 Pacific 2nd, at page 887, the court says in part:

"A county is but an agency or arm of the state government, created, organized and existing for civil and political purposes, particularly for the purpose of administering locally the general powers and policies of the state, and as a matter of public convenience in the administration of the government. It is generally a subordinate part of the sovereignty of the state itself, and is not an independent governmental entity."

Further cases in support of this proposition are: Commonwealth vs. Walker, 156 Atlantic 340, a Pennsylvania case; the City of Pendleton vs. Umatilla County, Oregon, 241 Pacific 979; the City of Los Angeles vs. the County of Los Angeles, 77 Pacific 2nd, 138; Gayer vs. Whelan District Attorney, 141 Pacific 2nd 514. In the last mentioned case, which arose in the State of California, the court says at page 516 of the Pacific report in part as follows, "the county enjoys the same immunity from suit and liability as the state," citing the City of Los Angeles vs. Los Angeles County, 72 Pacific 2nd 138, 113 ALR 370, and Whittaker vs. the County of Tuolumne, 30 Pacific 1016. Our Supreme Court has referred to the question of this immunity in the case of Lund vs. Salt Lake County, wherein it is said at page 515 of 200 Pacific, the following:

"In support of the validity of plaintiffs alleged third cause of action, counsel do not contend that the county when acting in a governmental capacity, would be liable for the negligence of its officers or agents for any injury occasioned by their negligence; hence it is not necessary to envoke the doctrine maintained with practical unanimity in nearly every jurisdiction of the country, to the effect that municipal corporations, especially county organizations, are not liable in such cases unless made so by express statute. Brief of respondents counsel filed in the case upon this point is voluminous and conclusive."

(b) The second question involved herein, is whether authority has been given by any statute of the

State of Utah to maintain the action of the sort here before the court. Defendants contend that there is no statute here applicable. Subsection 1, of section 3, Chapter 4, Title 19, Utah Code Annotated, 1943, defines generally the power of a county to "sue and be sued." It appears clear from the authorities that this statute simply constitutes the county as an entity to sue or be sued in those kind of actions in which the county is properly a plaintiff or defendant according to the other statutes of the state. A case so construing a similar statute is *Leanny vs. Jefferson County*, an Alabama case reported in 32 So. 2nd at page 542. At page 543 of the So. Report, the court says in part as follows:

"Notwithstanding the provisions of Title 12, Section 3, Code, that a county is a body corporate with power to sue and be sued in any court of record is nevertheless an arm of the state and is subject to immunity from suit which the state has, so long as it is engaged in governmental functions as to which no statute authorizes suit."

Other Alabama cases to that affect are here cited. In accord is the New Hampshire case of *O'Brien vs. Rockingham County* reported in 120 Atlantic at page 254. In that case the court said in part at page 255 of the Atlantic Report that a statute

"declaring them to be corporate cannot confer upon them other powers or subject them to other duties than those which are conferred and imposed either by express provisions of some statute or are implied from the general character and design of such public corporations." (Citing cases.)

There is no other statute known to the defendants which is in force in this state and which expressly refers to the liability or non-liability of a county to suit. However, section 27, Chapter 3, Title 104, Utah Code Annotated, 1943, gives statutory consent to certain specially designated actions which might under certain conditions be brought against the State of Utah. This section does not of course, authorize an action of the type now before the court against the state or against the county. In the absence of some other provisions specifically referring to the county, defendants contend that this is the consent and the only consent which is given to bring action against the state itself, and the counties as subdivisions of the state.

(c) Referring to the third question herein necessarily involved, defendants propose to discuss the question of whether there is an exception to the sovereign immunity of the state's political subdivision based upon the fact that a nuisance is claimed or that an injunction is the type of relief sought. There would appear from the reading of the text to be some conflict of authority on this question. That apparent conflict of authority is noted in 20 CJS 1069, Section 216, as follows:

“Nuisances. Whether a county may or may not be liable for the creation or maintenance of a nuisance has been decided in accordance with the rule prevailing in the particular jurisdiction as to the liability of counties for torts generally, as discussed in Section 216 Supra; other authorities hold that a county is immune from liability for its torts does not extend to the creation or main-

tenance of a nuisance and have granted injunctive relief in favor of a private individual as against a county for a threatened nuisance.”

The principal cases cited in the footnote, in support of the proposition holding that it is immune from suit for a threatened nuisance are *Leibman vs. Richmond*, 284 Pac. 731, 103 Cal. App. 354, and *Jones vs. Jefferson County*, 89 So. 174, 206 Ala. 13. In the analysis of this question defendants submit that it is perhaps important that the functions, scope and size of counties varies through the United States and that this court should take judicial notice of the fact that the counties in the western states differ in many particulars from counties in other parts of the country. (104-46-1 sub. 8, U.C.A. 1943). The first mentioned case should be especially persuasive since the statutes in the State of California defining the county as a political subdivision are substantially the same as in the State of Utah, and since the counties in the two states are geographically and functionally similar. The cases which are cited in the text at the page last mentioned in support of a contrary view, do not distinguish between a city and a county with regard to this liability. The earlier cases in the State of Tennessee have indicated that injunctive relief as against the county for a threatened nuisance, should be granted. But the later Tennessee case of *Odil vs. Maury County*, 136 So. West 2nd, page 500, seems to abandon this rule, at least in certain circumstances. At page 501 of the report cited, the court refers to the general rule of non-liability on the part of the County, and states:

“this general rule applies to acts constituting nuisances,” and cites in support of that statement many cases which are in accord. It is submitted that there is no valid reason for the distinction adhered to in some courts between tort liability generally and liability for nuisances alleged to be committed. The principal reasons for non-liability on the part of the county generally are illustrated by the following quotations:

“This rule is the logical result of the well settled doctrine that the state may not be sued unless it consents thereto.” — *Larsen v. Yuma County*, 225 P. 1115, 1116, 26 Ariz. 367, 15 CJ page 569 note 63(a).

And the other reason:

“The absolution from liability of a county \* \* \* rests upon the ground that the county \* \* \* is simply a quasi corporation and not clothed with full corporate powers.” — *Shirkey v. Keokuk County, Iowa*, 275 N.W. 706, 712, 225 Iowa 1159, withdrawn except as reaffirmed and modified 281 N.W. 837, 225 Iowa 1159.

It is submitted that upon logic and principle the foregoing reasons apply with equal force whether the wrong complained of is an alleged negligent tort or an alleged nuisance.

II. Whether, under the evidence before the court in this action, a nuisance as an inevitable result is established.

Referring to the second question necessarily involved, the attention of the court is invited to the general

statements of the texts as to the restraining of threatened or apprehended nuisances. 30 Am. Jur. at pages 417-418 section 451 reads in part as follows:

“But the general rule appears to be that an injunction will be granted when, and not unless, the act or thing threatened or apprehended will be a nuisance per se, or a nuisance will inevitably or necessarily result from it. If the complainant’s right is doubtful, or the thing which it is sought to restrain is not a nuisance per se and will not necessarily become a nuisance, but may or may not become such, depending on the use, manner of operation, or other circumstances, equity will not interfere.”

Numerous cases are cited in support of that general proposition. The evidence in this case, appellants believe, establishes clearly that the question of whether the restrained operations would or would not at any particular time become a nuisance as well as the extent of such nuisance depends largely upon the force and direction of wind currents in relation to the plaintiffs’ residences and the proposed site of operations. The evidence as to the probable direction and force of the winds was conflicting. The plaintiffs’ evidence was non-expert and was based on observations of the plaintiffs, all of whom were lay persons as far as physical sciences are concerned and some testimony by the witness Butler. Defendants evidence was based on expert testimony and scientific facts insofar as those facts were available. It is submitted that the question of the effect of the wind is extremely questionable and that in that respect, if in no other,

plaintiffs have failed to show that a nuisance would necessarily follow. The evidence of the plaintiffs with regard to the alleged effect on foliage was based upon certain tests made about December, 1927 in the eastern part of the country. It is submitted that these tests are too remote in time and distance to enable the court to determine as a fact that a nuisance in this regard would necessarily follow from the conditions alleged to arise from defendants proposed operations. The extent to which the nuisances apprehended from proposed operations could be minimized or eliminated by the use of protective devices does not fully appear, but there is evidence that some, at least, of the threatened damage could be eliminated or minimized through proper equipment to collect dust from the planned operations. The permanent injunction issued by the trial court deprives the defendants of any opportunity to determine by experiment what results will follow from the operations, and in effect the trial court is making a decision as to scientific facts without, as appellants believe, any sufficient evidence or information upon which to determine that fact.

III. Whether, even assuming such nuisance to be the result of the defendants' activities, all of such activities should be permanently enjoined under the facts and circumstances of this case.

Another consideration is, of course, the public convenience and necessity resulting from the continuance of the defendants activities as opposed to the nuisance to

the plaintiffs, assuming that that nuisance will result. At 39 Am. Jur. page 471, section 195, appears the following general statement:

“And when the public welfare requires it a nuisance may, for special purposes, be permitted. Public convenience or necessity may also be taken into consideration in some cases in determining whether or not to grant equitable relief.”

It is submitted that Salt Lake County and all of the residents therein, and all persons traveling through Salt Lake County have a direct and immediate interest in proper maintenance and construction of the county roads. It is further submitted that the taxpayers have a direct and immediate interest in the costs of such construction and maintenance and will benefit from efficient preparation of road materials. The proper parties to determine the most efficient and economical manner with which to acquire road building materials are the duly elected commissioners of Salt Lake County. On the other hand, the damage, if any, to the majority of the plaintiffs is extremely remote and speculative. A few of the plaintiffs reside in the immediate vicinity of the proposed operation but the majority live a considerable distance away as will appear from the boundaries of the district in question, as set up by the plaintiffs. Weighing the convenience and necessity of the public as a whole against the inconvenience and possible damage to some of the plaintiffs, it would seem that equitable relief should have been withheld.

It is respectfully submitted that the permanent injunction issued by the trial court herein was improperly granted and that the same should be vacated and the action dismissed with costs to the appellants.

Respectfully submitted,

EDWARD M. MORRISSEY,  
*County Attorney*

ARTHUR A. ALLEN, JR.  
*Chief Deputy County Attorney*

WILLIAM S. LIVINGSTON  
*Deputy County Attorney*  
*Attorneys for the Defendants*  
*and the Appellants*

RECEIVED two copies of the foregoing brief this  
.....day of September, 1949.

CRITCHLOW, WATSON, and  
WARNOCK

By.....  
*Attorneys for Plaintiffs*  
*and Respondents*