1949

# M. A. Shaw, Frank Armstrong, et al v. Salt Lake County : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

## ARGUMENT

We will argue the points of law raised by the appellants in the same order as they are presented in their brief.

1. (a) *Whether Salt Lake County enjoys a sovereign immunity, as a political subdivision of the State of Utah which precludes the maintenance against it of this kind of action?*

The answer to question (a) of appellants brief also answers (b).

As we understand the points attempted to be made under these headings it is simply that the sovereign cannot be sued unless express statutory consent is given and that the County as a creature of the sovereign is immune. We will concede that a sovereign cannot be sued without its consent. We will further concede that the County is a creature of the sovereign.

We believe the answer to the propositions raised by appellants is definitely answered by the Statutes. In defining the powers of the counties of this State the legislature has provided:

Title 19, Chapter 4, Section 3, Utah Code Annotated 1943.

## GENERAL POWERS

“A county has power:

(1) To sue and be sued.”

The appellants argument loses all of its substance because the State has never relinquished its immunity, except in specific instances. State vs. District Court of Salt Lake County, 102 Utah 290, 128 P2nd 471. There is no statute under the provisions of which the State of Utah can “sue or be sued.” Remedial action against the State is in the main allowed against the officers and commissions of the State, not against the State itself. The legislature has by the enactment of the quoted statute specifically authorized suits against counties. The question as to whether or not the county is liable for the particular wrong alleged is an entirely different question which will be argued later. There is no statutory enumeration of the nature of actions which can be brought against the county. If the reasoning used by appellants were adopted then no action could be maintained against a county except those enumerated in 104-3-27 Utah Code Annotated 1943, which sets forth the actions which may be brought against the State. These actions are of a very limited nature and if this reasoning were sound, the question of the county’s immunity from suit would have been raised many times.

The mechanics for obtaining service against the county are specifically provided for in the statutes. Section 104-5-11 Revised Statutes of Utah 1943 provides  
in part:



“The summons must be served by delivering a copy thereof as follows: \* \* \*

(2) If the defendant is a county, to a county commissioner or to the county clerk of such county.”

There is no comparable section covering service on the State. See *State vs. District Court of Salt Lake County*, *supra*.

(b) *The real question raised under (C) as we view it is not whether or not the county is immune from suit by reason of its sovereignty, but whether the wrong alleged is actionable against the County.*

As has been stated in appellants brief this is an action in equity to enjoin a threatened nuisance. An action to enjoin or abate a nuisance is not predicated on negligence. 9 Am. Juris. 282. No relief is asked, except injunction against the proposed nuisance. 39 Am. Juris. 282 says this among other things relative to the nature of an action based on nuisance.

“\* \* \* and it has been said that an action for a nuisance which violates a property right incident to the ownership of land is in the nature of one for trespass to realty.”

The pleadings, proof and findings of fact in this case support the proposition that unless the operation of the proposed plant be enjoined there would be a violation of a property right incident to the ownership of land by reason of the dust, odors and noise which would inevitably result from the operation of the plant.

This court has held that injunction will lie against

a county for trespass. The case of Aagard vs. Juab County, 75 Utah 6, 281 (P) 728, was an action for damages against the County for land alleged to have been taken by the County for a highway which land belonged to the plaintiff. The plaintiff had not presented a claim to the county as provided by statute and because this had not been done the court rendered judgment for the county on the pleadings. In reversing the District Court this court held that in an action such as the one brought it was not necessary to file a claim. In discussing the sufficiency of the complaint the court said the following:

“In this proceeding a strip of land is the subject matter of dispute. The plaintiff alleges that he is the owner in fee simple of the land. While plaintiff specifically prays for a money judgment for the value of the land, in dispute, he also prays for ‘such further and other relief as may be just.’ The facts alleged in the complaint, if true, are clearly sufficient to entitle plaintiff to a decree quieting title to the land in controversy and to *injunctive relief*.” (Italics ours)

The appellants in their brief have quoted the rule as set forth in Corpus Juris Secundum as to the liability of a county for a nuisance. 14 Am. Juris. 237 says the following:

“Certain specific remedies such as injunction, quo warranto, may be invoked against counties.”

Also at page 218 is the following:

Sec. 52. "There is authority for the view that a county may incur a tort liability in reference to one who stands in the relation of an adjoining proprietor to it. A county, in the construction of a public work, is not privileged to commit a nuisance to the special injury of the citizens. It is liable as a private individual in damage for such act."

The applicable rule is set forth in the case of *Young vs. Juneau County*, 192 Wis. 646, 652, 212 N. W. 295, 297 when the court said:

"The doctrine of liability of a municipal corporation in cases where the relation is that of one proprietor to another is so well entrenched in the jurisprudence of this State that it cannot be disturbed, and by this we do not indicate it should be. \* \* \* In this case the county of Juneau maintained upon adjoining premises a defective engine. Although repeatedly warned of the defect, its officers and agents continued to use the same, with the result that the plaintiff sustained damage, not as a traveler, but as a proprietor. Under such circumstances the case is ruled by *Matson v. Dane County* (172 Wis. 522, 179 N. W. 774), *supra*, and the cases there cited and considered, and the complaint must be held to hold that the defendant maintained a nuisance. If as an adjoining proprietor it violated a legal duty owing by it to the plaintiff, liability follows just as in the case of *Bunker v. Hudson* (122 Wis. 43, 99 N. W. 448), *supra*.

This case was cited with approval in the case of *Necedah Mfg. Corp. v. Juneau County*, 206 Wis. 316, 237 N. W. 227, 240 N. W. 405, 96 A.L.R. 4.

The appellants in their brief have cited the case of Lund vs. Salt Lake County, 58 Utah 546, 200 (P) 515, in support of their theory of sovereign immunity and have quoted a portion of that case. We do not think the case deals in any particular with immunity of the county from suit in tort actions. At most it deals only with the liability of the county for damages for the negligent act of its employees. This was a case for damages caused by the county's employees allowing water from a reservoir to go into the fish ponds of the plaintiff while the reservoir was being cleaned. The action was based on three grounds: (1) for taking and damaging property for public use; (2) Nuisance damaging plaintiffs property; and (3) For negligence. The portion of the opinion quoted by appellant deals with the liability of a county for negligence. The court at page 555 of the Utah Reports discusses the case of Wendell v. Spokane County, 27 Wash. 121, 67 Pac. 576, 91 Am. St. Rep. 528. The court distinguishes the case from the Lund case and in doing so quotes the following from the Washington case:

“This is an action for damages caused by draining the waters of a lake in Spokane County onto the lands of the plaintiffs, *done by the order of the board of County Commissioners* in constructing a road across said lake.

The court found in this case that the County was liable for damages.

In the case now before the court the proposed plant

was to be installed by order of the Board of County Commissioners.

The appellants place some reliance on the case of *Leibman vs. Richmond*, 284 (P) 731, 103 Cal. App. 354. We think that case is clearly distinguishable from the case at bar. This was an action to abate the County Court House of Alameda County as a nuisance. Under the Statutes of California the County under express authority was directed to maintain a court house. There was another law which provided:

“Sec. 3482 of the civil code provides. Nothing which is done or maintained under the express authority of a statute can be deemed a nuisance.”

There is no express statute in the case before the court which authorizes or directs Salt Lake County to operate a gravel mining and asphalt plant. Further we do not have a comparable statute governing nuisances such as California.

We submit that a municipal corporation shall not be allowed to construct or maintain any plant which will work an irreparable hardship on the residents of the County.

II. *Whether, under the evidence before the court in this action, a nuisance as an inevitable result is established.*

The assignment of error attacking the trial court's findings is so broad that it is impossible for us to determine just wherein the findings of the court were in error and what evidence is lacking to sustain the findings. Certainly under the former rule 26 of this court such

an assignment of error would not be considered by the court. *Johnson et ux vs. Brinkerhoff et al*( 57 (P) 2nd 1132, 89 Utah 530. *Townsend vs. Holbrook*, 56 (P) 2nd 610, 89 Utah 147. Even under the present rule to consider such an assignment would be giving the rule a very liberal interpretation.

The court may, in equity cases, review all of the evidence, but the findings of the trial court will not be disturbed unless the findings are against the evidence. *Anderson v. Anderson*, 104 Utah 104, 138 (P) 2nd 252. We invite the court to read the evidence in this case and we submit that no finding made by the trial court is against the evidence.

We now come to the question of the creation of a nuisance by reason of the proposed installation and operation of the plant. A public nuisance has been defined by the legislature. 103-41-3 Utah Code Anno. 1943.

“A public nuisance is a crime against the order and economy of the state, and consists in unlawfully doing any act, or omitting to perform any duty, which act or omission either: (1) Annoys, injures or endangers the comfort, repose, health or safety of three or more persons;”

The governor may under the statutes direct the attorney general to abate such a nuisance.

104-56-1 Utah Code Annotated 1943 defines a private nuisance as:

“Anything which is injurious to health or indecent, or offensive to the senses, or an obstruc-



tion to the free use of property, so as to interfere with the comfortable enjoyment of life or property, is a nuisance and the subject of an action. Such action may be brought by any person whose property is injuriously affected, or whose personal enjoyment is lessened by the nuisance; and by the judgment the nuisance may be enjoined or abated, and damages may also be recovered."

The evidence in this case discloses without contradiction that the operation of the plant would be noisy. The testimony of Mrs. Speyer (Tr. 123, Rec. 185), and Mrs. Mays (Tr. 118-A, Rec. 180), is to the effect that Mt. Olympus acts as a sounding board and that even the noise of the present limited operation by Mr. Harper is apparent. The limited operation conducted by Mr. Harper is described by him (Tr. 163, Rec. 225). He testified that the only equipment used was a gravity loader and screener and at most 4 trucks. This court has held that noises and other disturbances may constitute an actionable nuisance, especially in a residential neighborhood. *Brough v. Ute Stampede Assn.*, 142 (P) 2nd, 670, 105 Utah 446.

The evidence as was stated in our statement of facts is that the operation of the so-called Catmul plant and other comparable plants is dusty and that smoke and odors from hot asphalt and firing of boilers is emitted. This evidence is not seriously controverted. The only claim made by appellants in their brief in this connection is that the prevailing winds during the day time in this area are from the North and West and that the dust and

odors will be carried away from the residences. Indeed, this is the only argument made in the brief attacking the court's findings. The court after hearing all of the evidence found in finding No. 4 (Rec. 48) that the prevailing winds were from the Southeast to the Northwest. This finding was based on the testimony of the witness Butler (Trans. 50, Rec. 111), who testified that he had made actual tests of wind currents at the mouth of Big Cottonwood Canyon. It was further substantiated by the witness Mrs. Mays (Trans. 118, Rec. 179) who had lived in the area all of her life. To controvert this testimony the appellants called Dr. Hawkes who testified that he had written a thesis on wind currents in mountain valleys but who had made no actual tests in this area. We submit that the evidence clearly sustains the court's finding. This court has held that dust and odors or either of them may constitute a nuisance even in areas which are not exclusively residential.

Ludlow vs. Colorado Animal By-Products Co.,  
137 (P) 2nd 347, 104 Utah 221;

Thackery vs. Union Portland Cement Co.,  
231 (P) 813, 64 Utah 437.

The proof is also uncontradicted that there is a definite traffic hazard being created on Holladay Boulevard from the mouth of Big Cottonwood Canyon to Holladay and that this traffic would be increased by 100 truck loads per day during the summer months. See the evidence of Mrs. Speyer (Trans. 126, Rec. 188), and Mrs. Mays (Trans. 1182A, Rec. 180). The case of

Benton vs. Kernan, 13 (A) 2nd 825, New Jersey, discusses excessive use of trucks and their effect on traffic as creating a nuisance in residential neighborhoods and holds that their operation may constitute a nuisance.

It is the contention of these plaintiffs that any one of the activities proved would constitute a nuisance in this particular case. The case of Benton v. Kernan supra has this to say regarding the operation of a rock quarry in a residential neighborhood.

“Considering the high-class residential character of the neighborhood, each of these noises is a nuisance in itself; but the medley of all of them, when the quarry is in full operation, produces such a din in the immediate neighborhood as to render normal conversation difficult.”

III. *Whether, even assuming such nuisance to be the result of the defendants' activities, all such activities should be permanently enjoined under the facts and circumstances of this case.*

Salt Lake County has for years maintained and repaired the streets and roads within the County without operating an asphalt plant in this residential area. The present Commissioner Greenwood, testified that there would be a saving of money for the asphalt used and that he favored the gravel at the Harper pit. There is no showing that there are not other available sites. There is a serious question as to whether or not any saving would be made on the asphalt used.

The answer of the defendants did not set up or raise the issue of public good. All of the testimony

relative to costs was objected to at the trial by the plaintiffs. We submit there is no showing that the public as a whole would be benefited.

## CONCLUSION

All of the errors assigned by appellants have been answered.

Counties are created by the legislature and their powers and duties are defined by the legislature. The legislature has relinquished any immunity a county might have from suit by legislative enactment.

The county cannot create a nuisance or deprive its citizens and residents of the quiet, peaceful enjoyment of their homes.

All of the evidence conclusively establishes the fact that any one of the operations contemplated would have created a nuisance, all combined would be intolerable.

No public necessity for such an operation in this particular area was plead or shown.

It is submitted that the rulings and the findings of the trial court were in accord with the law and the facts.